Appeal No. 23-CF-195



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 05/03/2024 11:18 AM

М.Н.,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

MIKEL-MEREDITH WEIDMAN

* PAUL MANERI

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 3rd Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

* Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

M.H. was tried for a murder that everyone agreed was committed by two people. The government's theory was that those two people were M.H., then 16 years old,¹ and S.B., who died before the trial at the age of 16. M.H.'s defense was misidentification. The issues presented in this appeal are:

- I. Whether S.B.'s text messages to his ex-girlfriend—that he was "Cooling staying down," that his "man" was "Still in for dat murder shit," and "member I told you the story"—so clearly exposed him to criminal liability that they were admissible at trial as statements against his penal interest.
- II. Whether the trial court violated the prohibition on propensity evidence when it allowed the government to: (1) introduce evidence of S.B.'s possession of guns to show, in the trial court's words, "the type of individual that [S.B.] may have become," and (2) argue in rebuttal that "[S.B.] could easily be a killer."
- III. Whether the trial court erred by admitting evidence of M.H.'s prior arrest.
- IV. Whether the sentence must be vacated where the trial court failed to recognize its discretion to impose a sentence below the mandatory minimum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Pursuant to D.C. Code § 16-2301(3)(A), M.H. was charged as an adult with one count of first-degree murder while armed (D.C. Code §§ 22-2101, -4502). R.1.² In a superseding indictment, the grand jury charged M.H. with one count of firstdegree murder while armed with an aggravating circumstance that the murder was

¹ Pursuant to this Court's Amended Order No. M-274-21 (Apr. 17, 2024), which requires the use of "initials when referring to minors," counsel refers to appellant as M.H. and will move to recaption the case accordingly. *See* D.C. Code § 16-2301(4) ("The term 'minor' means an individual who is under the age of twenty-one years.").

² Citations to "R." refer to the record on appeal. "S.R." refers to the sealed supplemental record.

especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (D.C. Code §§ 22-2101, -2104.01(b)(4), -4502, 24-403.01(b-2)); one count of possessing a firearm during a crime of violence (D.C. Code § 22-4504(b)); and one count of carrying a pistol without a license (D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)). R.19. A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Rainey Brandt on October 19, 2022. On November 2, 2022, the jury found M.H. guilty of all counts except for the aggravating circumstance, on which it did not reach a verdict. 11/02/2022 Tr. at 44–45.³ On March 1, 2023, Judge Brandt sentenced M.H. to concurrent terms of 40 years in prison for the murder, 5 years for possessing a firearm during a crime of violence, and 2 years for carrying a pistol without a license. R.116. M.H. filed a timely notice of appeal. R.117. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges in this case arose from the December 13, 2018 shooting of 15year-old G.W. It was undisputed that two masked people—one wearing black, the other wearing green—chased G.W. into an apartment building at 2919 Knox Place, Southeast. It was also undisputed that at approximately 3:40 p.m., the person in black followed G.W. into the building, shot him, and then exited the building through the same door that he had entered, fleeing on foot along with the person in green. The government contended that the person in black was M.H., and that his 16-year-old friend S.B. was the person in green.

³ Upon the government's motion, Judge Brandt declared a mistrial on the aggravating circumstance and dismissed that aspect of the indictment. *Id.* at 49.

M.H. maintained that he was misidentified. There was no physical evidence connecting him to the shooting: the police recovered no guns from a search of his family's apartment, nor did they ever find the weapon that was used to shoot G.W.; the black jacket worn by the person in the video did not match the only black jacket recovered from M.H.'s apartment; and no DNA evidence connected M.H. to the crime.

The government's theory that M.H. was the person in black rested on three eyewitnesses—Loveval Tribble and Joseph Phelps, neither of whom could recognize M.H. in court, and B.L., who was high on crack cocaine at the time of the shooting and out-of-court statements purportedly made by S.B. to his ex-girlfriend, Erianna Barbour, prior to his death. Ms. Barbour claimed that in March 2019, S.B. told her that he was the person in green and that M.H. was the person in black. That evidence, as both parties recognized, linked the question of M.H.'s guilt to that of S.B.'s.⁴

To corroborate Ms. Barbour's testimony that S.B. incriminated himself and M.H. in March, the government introduced text messages from May 2019 in which S.B. said nothing about his potential role in the shooting, but told Ms. Barbour "Member I told you the story" and that his "man" was "[s]till in for dat murder shit." In addition, the government introduced evidence showing that S.B. carried guns and

⁴ See 10/20/2022 Tr. at 44 (defense counsel explaining that "if you have any doubt that [S.B.] may not have been involved, . . . then you have to doubt his purported statements that he participated in the killing with [M.H.]"); 10/31/2022 Tr. at 112-16, 159-60 (government arguing that S.B. was the person in green and that the jury should therefore believe his purported statements to Ms. Barbour).

therefore, in the prosecutor's words at closing, "could easily be a killer." 10/31/2022 Tr. at 159.

Evidentiary Rulings

S.B.'s Out-of-Court Statements

The government moved in limine to admit as statements against penal interest various remarks that S.B. made to Ms. Barbour before his death. S.R.7; 10/06/2022 Tr. at 199–201.⁵ M.H. opposed the motion, arguing that the purported statements were not clearly trustworthy because S.B. had a motive to lie: as an aspiring teenage rapper, he might have wanted to gain clout and appear tough by claiming responsibility for the shooting. *See* R.65, 10/06/2022 Tr. at 214. M.H. also argued that the court "must go through each statement line-by-line to determine if each statement . . . is against the declarant's penal interest" and that the statements were substantially more prejudicial than probative. R.65.

At a pretrial hearing, Ms. Barbour testified about three separate conversations that she claimed to have had with S.B. relating to G.W.'s death. The first conversation, she said, took place around January 2019. S.B. purportedly told Ms. Barbour then only that "me and my man got one, or we caught an op (phonetic) today." 10/06/2022 Tr. at 32. Ms. Barbour testified that "[a]n op is somebody that you have a problem with or you have . . . animosity against[.]" *Id*. But she did not explain why she thought that S.B.'s purported statement about catching "an op" in

⁵ S.B. was never arrested or indicted in connection with this case.

January related to G.W.'s December death. Ms. Barbour testified that she saw a gun on S.B.'s hip during that January conversation. *Id.* at 36.

Ms. Barbour said that S.B. "didn't fully tell [her]" about the G.W. incident until March 2019, after the news broadcast a video of "a boy running and another boy in a green hoodie and another boy in a black hoodie running towards the building." *Id.* at 35, 38, 83. According to Ms. Barbour, S.B. told her "that is me and [M.H.] in the video on the news," *id.* at 36, that S.B. was "the boy in the green hoodie," *id.* at 39, that "me and my friend, [M.H.], killed [G.W.]," *id.* at 56, and that "me and my friend [M.H.] chased [G.W.] to the building and we shot him," *id.* at 58.

The third conversation that Ms. Barbour testified about—and the only one memorialized in writing—was a series of text messages that she exchanged with S.B. on May 6, 2019. *Id.* at 45–50. Those messages, admitted at trial as Government Exhibit 452.16, read, in relevant part:

Ms. Barbour: Definitely ! What You Been Up To Tho ?

S.B.: Cooling staying down

S.B.: Can't do to much the feds be on me and my men ass

Ms. Barbour: That's Wassup & Damn They Geeking

S.B.: Yeah

S.B.: Den Dey keep stepping my man back

Ms. Barbour: What He Do?

Ms. Barbour: Have He Been Behaving Correctly?

S.B.: Still in for dat murder shit

S.B.: Yea

S.B.: Member I told you the story

Ms. Barbour: Oh Yea Oh Yea

Ms. Barbour: Damn Ii Had Forgot & Why They Keep Stepping Him Back That's His First Charge ?

S.B.: Nah and cause they trying find out who the 2nd shooter is and Dey don't really got no evidence

Ms. Barbour: Yeaa Imma Need For You To Lay Love For Aah While

Ms. Barbour: *Low

S.B.: Dats what I been doing

Ms. Barbour: Dont Get Into Any Bullshit

S.B.: I'm cooling frfr

Ms. Barbour assumed that "the story" S.B. referred to in the text messages was the one she said he told her about him and his friend killing G.W., but she did not explain why. 10/06/2022 Tr. at 48. Although Ms. Barbour had never met M.H., *id.* at 204, she identified him in several photographs as the person who S.B. referred to as "**100**," *id.* at 61–62.

The court's ruling on the government's motion did not explain how each individual statement was against S.B.'s penal interest. Rather, it found generally that "[S.B.] is essentially confessing to Ms. Barbour his role in the [G.W.] murder," and that therefore *all* of his statements could "come in as statements against penal interest." 10/07/2022 Tr. at 55.

Prior Bad Acts of M.H. and S.B.

The government repeatedly sought to introduce evidence that M.H. and S.B. carried guns. But the court held that any reference to M.H.'s possible possession of guns would be "too inflammatory" given the lack of a connection between those guns and the weapon used to shoot G.W. 10/25/2022 Tr. at 5. When the government sought to elicit testimony that two groups of unidentified, armed Black people were arguing about an hour before G.W. was killed—and that, "inferentially," one of them was M.H., 10/13/2022 Tr. at 30—the court ruled that the reference to any of the group being armed must be excluded. Id. at 37. Similarly, the court excluded a photo of M.H. pretending to hold a gun by "pointing his hand out as if [it] is a weapon," 10/18/2022 Tr. at 7, and one of S.B. holding a gun with M.H. kneeling in front of him, *id.* at 15.⁶ Both were "highly prejudicial" because "[a]nybody seeing that is going to think, guns, drugs, gang." Id. at 16. And when the government sought to allow Loveval Tribble to testify that he had seen M.H. with a gun a month before G.W. was killed, the court emphasized that "unless the government can proffer to me that the weapon that he was seen carrying is somehow related to this case, you're not going to put a gun in this young man's hand[.]" 10/25/2022 Tr. at 5. The government conceded that it could proffer "[o]nly that it was a handgun," and the trial court ruled, "That's too inflammatory. . . . [I]t's my responsibility to make sure

⁶ These photos are included in the appendix accompanying this brief at A79 and A80, respectively. Counsel will move to supplement the record on appeal with these excluded photos, along with Government Exhibits 452.16, 454.13, 457.2, and 457.3, each of which was admitted into evidence at trial.

that [M.H.] gets a fair trial, and putting a gun in his hand before this incident happened is just too highly prejudicial." *Id.* at 5–6.

That reasoning did not prevent the court from allowing the government to introduce several photographs of S.B. holding guns to prove that he told Ms. Barbour the truth about his and M.H.'s roles in the shooting. Objecting to one photo (Gov't Ex. 454.13, see A76) in which S.B. held what "appear[ed] to be the butt of a gun" while standing next to M.H., defense counsel emphasized that "[w]e have no evidence that the gun is the same gun alleged to have been held by [S.B.] on December 13th, 2018." 10/18/2022 Tr. at 9. The government did not dispute that absence of evidence, instead arguing that it should be able to use the photo because "we have to corroborate Ariana Barber's [sic] testimony that [S.B.] was the second gunman," and the photo "shows the association" between M.H. and S.B. Id. at 11. Although the court agreed that the government had plenty of other pictures showing that S.B. and M.H. were friends, *id.* at 16, it ruled that Exhibit 454.13 could be admitted because it "shows a comradery [sic]" between the two teenagers and it would "support testimony that the government plans to elicit from" Ms. Barbour. Id. at 12.

The court also ruled, over M.H.'s objection, that the government could admit two other photographs of S.B. with guns: one posted to Instagram on November 15, 2017, in which he points a gun at the camera (Gov't Ex. 457.2, *see* A77), and another posted on August 8, 2018 showing him posing over a gun and cash (Gov't Ex. 457.3, *see* A78). *Id.* at 19–22. The government did not claim that the photographs were direct evidence in this case, *see generally Johnson v. United States*, 683 A.2d 1087 (D.C. 1996) (en banc), nor did it seek to use them for some non-propensity purpose, *see Drew v. United States*, 331 F.2d 85, 90 (D.C. Cir. 1964). Rather, asserting that "Drew/Johnson applies [only] to prior bad acts *of the defendant*," the government argued that the photos were admissible because they "show[] [S.B.] the accomplice's association with firearms" and would corroborate Ms. Barbour's expected testimony that S.B. helped kill G.W. 10/18/2022 Tr. at 19–20 (emphasis added).⁷ The court ruled that the photos of S.B. with guns could come in as character evidence to prove his propensity for violence: "[Government Exhibits 457].2 and .3 come in, because it supports part of the government's story board as to the type – well, as to information that will be elicited from another government witness [Erianna Barbour] that speaks to *the type of individual that [S.B.] may have become.*" *Id.* at 22 (emphasis added).

The Evidence at Trial

The physical evidence at trial was mostly uncontested. An autopsy showed that G.W. died from 17 wounds caused by 16 gunshots fired at close range. 10/24/2022 Tr. at 60, 63, 67–68. Analysis of shell casings showed that all 16 bullets were fired by the same .40 caliber Smith & Wesson, 10/26/2022 Tr. at 226, which the government did not produce at trial. The government admitted without objection several items seized from M.H.'s family's apartment, including a black Helly Hansen jacket, school schedule, black mask, North Face gloves, and cell phone. 10/25/2022 Tr. at 36–44. DNA analysis showed that M.H.'s DNA was very likely

⁷ The transcript attributes these words to defense counsel, but it is clear from context that it was the prosecutor who spoke them.

present on the black jacket and mask recovered from his apartment, and excluded the possibility that G.W.'s DNA was present on those items. 10/26/2022 Tr. at 51, 53–54. Similarly, G.W.'s DNA was very likely present on another black mask recovered from the scene of the shooting, but M.H. and S.B. were excluded as possible contributors to the DNA on that mask. *Id.* at 54–55. There was no blood on any of the clothing items recovered from M.H.'s apartment or on any of the clothes he wore when he was arrested. *Id.*

The government also admitted without objection several clips of surveillance videos, taken from apartment complex and police cameras, capturing some of the moments shortly before and after the shooting. 10/20/2022 Tr. at 210–11, 216, 224; 10/24/2022 Tr. at 135–46, 152, 176–80. Those videos showed the person in green and the person in black, and appeared to show each of them carrying a handgun. *See* 10/24/2022 Tr. at 131. But their faces were not visible, and no one argued that the jury could identify either person based on the videos alone. Thus, the only contested issue at trial—identity—turned on the testimony of the four witnesses who implicated M.H.: Ms. Barbour, Mr. Phelps, Mr. Tribble, and B.L.

S.B.'s Out-of-Court Statements and Possession of Guns

The government admitted S.B.'s hearsay statements and evidence of his gun possession through Ms. Barbour's testimony. On direct examination, the government first asked about the May text messages between her and S.B. 10/27/2022 Tr. at 214. She testified that the "story" he referred to in the texts was about "when him and his friend **w** killed [G.W.]." *Id.* at 215.

Ms. Barbour gave inconsistent testimony about when she heard that "story." At first, she said that "the first time" she "heard from [S.B.] that he and his friend, **[107]**, killed [G.W.]" was in January 2019. *Id.* at 216. But she quickly backtracked and said that, actually, S.B. did not tell her anything "in January about what he and his friend, **[107]**, did[.]" *Id.* at 217. She did not tell the jury about any of S.B.'s purported statements in January. Ms. Barbour then testified that she did not hear from S.B. that "him and his friend, **[107]**, killed [G.W.]" until March 2019, "[a]fter the fact" of G.W.'s death "came out on the news." *Id.* at 218; *see also id.* at 239. Ms. Barbour claimed that S.B. told her in March that he was the person in "[t]he green hoody." *Id.* at 219.

Ms. Barbour identified "**1**" in ten photographs from Instagram, *id.* at 222–28, including the one in which S.B. held a handgun, *id.* at 226 (Gov't Ex. 454.13). She also identified S.B. in the two other photographs where he appeared with guns. *Id.* at 228 (Gov't Exs. 457.2 and 457.3). And she testified that S.B. "had a gun on his hip" during their January conversation. *Id.* at 230. She could not remember what the gun looked like. *Id.* at 231.

On cross-examination, Ms. Barbour agreed that S.B. tried to project the image of a "tough guy." *Id.* at 237. She also agreed that she just "kind of move[d] on" after S.B. told her about the shooting because she "didn't really buy it." *Id.* at 244–45; *see also id.* at 247–48.

References to M.H.'s Criminal Record

In addition to learning about S.B.'s possession of guns, the jury heard repeated suggestions that M.H. had been arrested before. One detective explained that police

generated a photo array containing M.H.'s photograph using "photographs obtained by the police department of individuals who have been arrested in the city." 10/24/2022 Tr. at 195. Defense counsel immediately moved for a mistrial. *Id.* at 196. The government agreed that the reference to the arrest was "unfortunate," and the trial court instructed the government to ask about other potential sources for photographs used in array procedures. *Id.* at 197, 201. After that additional testimony, defense counsel unsuccessfully renewed his motion for a mistrial, maintaining that "the only thing the jury has to think now is [M.H.] has been previously arrested." *Id.* at 202.

Less than two hours later, another detective testified that he knew what M.H. looked like prior to his arrest because "I had a picture of him from 28 - a 2018 arrest." *Id.* at 273. This time, the court said "[t]here is absolutely no way to clean this one up," and defense counsel argued that a mistrial was now especially warranted given the "cumulative impact" of multiple references to a prior arrest. *Id.* The trial court issued a limited curative instruction to the jury that afternoon.⁸ The next morning, the court denied the motion for a mistrial and instead offered to issue another curative instruction. 10/25/2022 Tr. at 7–9. Defense counsel maintained that an instruction would be insufficient, *id.* at 9, but "given the Court's previous rulings," counsel stated that M.H.'s preference would be "to proceed without any additional instruction ... [s]o as not to highlight the issue." *Id.* at 80. Before it denied

⁸ The court instructed the jury: "you are to disregard any reference to a prior arrest. You do not know whether that prior arrest pertained to – well, who the suspect was. So you are to disregard what the detective just testified to." 10/24/2022 Tr. at 277.

the motion for a mistrial, however, the court admonished the government: "the showing of photographs of prior arrests, et cetera, needs to stop and start with this witness because if it happens a third time – well, I'm just going to hope it doesn't happen a third time." 10/24/2022 Tr. at 278–79.

But the court later admitted into evidence a third reference to M.H.'s criminal record. Referring to M.H. in the May 2019 texts, Ms. Barbour asked, "Why They Keep Stepping Him Back *That's His First Charge* ?", to which S.B. responded: "*Nah* and cause they trying find out who the 2nd shooter is and Dey don't really got no evidence." Gov't Ex. 452.16 (emphases added). M.H. objected that this statement, in addition to being inadmissible hearsay, was substantially more prejudicial than probative. R.65 at n.1; 10/06/2022 Tr. at 211–12.

Eyewitnesses to The Chase

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