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

Contrary to M.H.'s claims (Brief for M.H. at 37), Dodson v. United States, 288 A.3d 1168 (D.C. 2023), does not suggest that the trial court abused its discretion here. In *Dodson*, defense counsel posited that the child victim "H.B." falsely accused Dodson due to fear of her abusive father. *Id.* at 1172. When the father testified, defense counsel sought to introduce extrinsic evidence to show that a 2012 investigation into the father's abuse against H.B. had been conducted by the Child and Family Services Agency. Id. at 1173. Defense counsel initially argued that evidence about this 2012 investigation would "corroborate" the child's testimony about her father's anger. Id. The trial court declined to admit the evidence on this basis, however, "[a]fter determining that the government would not contest H.B.'s testimony that her father had hit her, and had hit her mother in her presence." Id. at 1174. Otherwise, the trial court found that the 2012 investigation offered little to rebut the father's trial testimony. *Id.* Thus, *Dodson* differs markedly from this case. The extrinsic evidence of the father's other bad acts in *Dodson* was *not* offered to corroborate the child's account about her father's prior bad acts; there was no challenge to the child's credibility on that score. Rather, the trial court properly precluded the defense from offering these extrinsic acts "in order to impeach" the father's testimony about how he interacted with his child when she reported the

alleged sexual misconduct. *Id.* at 1176. Thus, *Dodson* stands for the unremarkable proposition that prior bad acts may not be used as propensity evidence to impeach a witness. *Id. Dodson* does not establish that the trial court in this case abused its discretion by admitting evidence about S.B.'s prior gun possession in the presence of M.H. to corroborate E.B.'s challenged testimony.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of S.B.'s prior gun possession, reversal is not required because M.H. was not unfairly prejudiced. Evidence of S.B.'s prior possession of guns was not, as M.H. claims, "a major part of the case for the prosecution" (Brief for M.H. at 42 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). In its initial closing argument, the government briefly noted the photographs and did not mention E.B.'s testimony that she had seen S.B. with a gun in January 2019 (10/31/22 Tr. 114). In response to the defense argument that there was no evidence to back up E.B.'s testimony that S.B. had confessed to her (10/31/22 Tr. 155), the government argued in rebuttal that E.B. also testified that "she saw [S.B.] with a gun in his waistband" and "[t]hat back[ed] up that [S.B.] could easily be a killer" (10/31/22 Tr. 159-60). That was the extent of the discussion of S.B.'s prior possession of guns in the government's initial and rebuttal closings.

Although the evidence of S.B.'s gun possession corroborated E.B.'s account, her testimony was highly credible even without this evidence. As the government argued, the jury could be assured that S.B. was not lying to E.B. about the fact that

he and Leek had killed G.W. given the close nature of their relationship (10/31/22 Tr. 160 ("It was something he confided in a close, personal friend.")). E.B. also had no motive to fabricate a story that her close childhood friend, who had since passed away, confessed his involvement in G.W.'s murder to her. The limited corroboration provided by evidence that S.B. had previously possessed a gun did not sway the verdict, particularly given the identification testimony of Phelps, Tribble, and B.L.

Furthermore, as defense counsel recognized, the photographs of S.B. with guns were "very theatrical," like the "trap" style of rap referenced in one of the photographs (10/18/22 Tr. 9-10). In closing, defense counsel argued that S.B. was "creating an image for himself" by posting these photographs on his Instagram account (10/31/22 Tr. 155-56). Under these circumstances, these photographs were not as inflammatory or as indicative of S.B.'s "propensity for violence" as M.H. suggests on appeal (Brief for M.H. at 44). In fact, there was no evidence of M.H.'s (as opposed to S.B.'s) prior possession of guns. Thus, it was highly unlikely that the jury would conclude that M.H. was involved in "guns, drugs, gangs" merely after seeing the stylized photograph of S.B. and M.H. posing as gangsters, as M.H. suggests (Brief for M.H. at 44).

Accordingly, any error in the admission of evidence of S.B.'s prior gun possession was harmless - i.e., the error "was sufficiently insignificant to give [this

Court] fair assurance that the judgment was not substantially swayed by it." *Foreman*, 114 A.3d at 640 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

III. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Declining to Order a Mistrial to Remedy the Admission of Evidence Alluding to M.H.'s Prior Arrest.

M.H. challenges the admission of S.B.'s text message to E.B. telling her, "Nah," in response to her question whether this was M.H.'s first charge (Brief for M.H. at 46-47). He contends that this reference to a prior arrest requires reversal (*id.* at 46-48). Because M.H. did not object to this portion of the text message exchange as improperly referring to his prior arrest and move to exclude its admission on this ground, this Court must review for plain error only. Reversal is not warranted because M.H. cannot show that he was prejudiced by this text message under any standard.

A. Additional Background

Two government witnesses inadvertently referred to M.H.'s prior arrest at trial. MPD Detective Sean Brackett testified about the photo identification procedure conducted with Tribble (10/24/22 Tr. 185-95). During this testimony, Detective Brackett explained generally how photo arrays were created, stating, "There's a database that we use in order to generate the photos, and they're photographs obtained by the police department of individuals who have been arrested in the city" (10/24/22 Tr. 195). M.H. objected and moved for a mistrial (10/24/22 Tr. 195-96).

The prosecutor, at the suggestion of the court, agreed to try "to clean this up" by leading Detective Brackett with questions regarding other sources of photographs the police used to create arrays (10/24/22 Tr. 196-97). Upon resuming his testimony, Detective Brackett stated that photographs used in arrays sometimes came from school identification photographs and perhaps family members (10/24/22 Tr. 201). The trial judge ultimately denied M.H.'s motion for a mistrial, ruling that Detective Brackett's slip was not "significant enough to merit a mistrial," given the government's further questioning of Detective Brackett about other sources the police used to compile arrays (10/24/22 Tr. 198-200; 10/25/22 Tr. 6-7).

Later that same day, MPD Detective Jose Morales testified about the execution of M.H.'s arrest warrant (10/24/22 Tr. 266-68). Detective Morales explained that he knew what M.H. looked like because he "had a picture of him from . . . a 2018 arrest" (10/24/22 Tr. 273). M.H. objected (10/24/22 Tr. 273). The government requested a curative instruction while M.H. again moved for a mistrial (10/24/22 Tr. 273-77). The trial court instructed the jury "to disregard any reference to a prior arrest" and "what the detective just testified to," and excused the jury for the day (10/24/22 Tr. 276-78). The next day, the court ruled that Detective Morales's mention of a 2018 arrest photo did not warrant a mistrial, given that the court immediately gave the jury a curative instruction ordering them to disregard this testimony and struck the reference to a prior arrest from the record (10/25/22 Tr. 7).

At the pretrial hearing on the government's motion in limine to admit S.B.'s out-of-court statements, E.B. testified that, during the May 6, 2019, text exchange, when S.B. told her that M.H. was "[s]till in for that murder shit," she asked S.B., "[W]hy they keep stepping him back? That's his first charge." (10/6/22 Tr. 47-48.) S.B. responded, "Nah, because they trying to find out who the second shooter is, and they don't really got no evidence" (10/6/22 Tr. 49). M.H. did not object to this testimony, or seek to preclude it, on the ground that it implied that M.H. had previously been arrested (10/6/22 Tr. 49). Later, at trial, E.B. testified to this same text message exchange (10/27/22 Tr. 215, 253). Again, M.H. made no objection to this testimony at trial on the ground that it impermissibly implied that he had a prior arrest, nor did he move for a mistrial or seek a less drastic remedy, such as striking the testimony or requesting a curative instruction (10/27/22 Tr. 253).

B. Standard of Review and Legal Principles

"The risk from the admissibility of a prior arrest of the defendant is that 'the jury may infer . . . that the defendant is a bad [person] and that he [or she] therefore probably committed the crime for which he [or she] is on trial." *Clark v. United States*, 639 A.2d 76, 79 (D.C. 1993) (quoting *Bennett v. United States*, 597 A.2d 24, 27 (D.C. 1991)). This Court has also noted, however, that "a reference to a defendant's prior arrest or imprisonment" does not necessarily result in prejudice so great as to require a mistrial. *Id.* at 78-79; *accord McRoy v. United States*, 106 A.3d

1051, 1061 (D.C. 2015) ("Improper references to a defendant's criminal history, though potentially prejudicial, do not always warrant a mistrial."). "Whether to declare a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and its decision in that regard will not be disturbed except in extreme situations threatening a miscarriage of justice." *Goins v. United States*, 617 A.2d 956, 958 (D.C. 1992) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Indeed, "[w]henever possible, the court should seek to avoid a mistrial by appropriate corrective action which will minimize potential prejudice." *Id*.

M.H. does not contend that the trial court should have declared a mistrial following the testimony of Detectives Brackett and Morales. Instead, he argues that "the text message reference to M.H.'s criminal record was error" and now claims that it warranted a mistrial (Brief for M.H. at 47). At no point, however, did M.H. object to the admission of the text messages between E.B. and S.B. on the ground that S.B.'s response impermissibly implied that M.H. had previously been arrested. More importantly, M.H. did not demand a mistrial because the text messages contained an oblique reference to his criminal record. Because M.H. raises this

argument for the first time on appeal, this Court must review for plain error only.

See Perkins, 760 A.2d at 608-09.¹⁹

C. Discussion

M.H. cannot show plain error or prejudice here. Indeed, it is not clear that the jury would have even picked up on this passing allusion to M.H.'s prior arrest in the text message, especially since the government did not discuss this portion of E.B.'s and S.B.'s text message exchange at all in its closing argument (see 10/31/22 Tr. 115, 159-60). At most, S.B.'s text message reference to M.H.'s prior arrest was subtle, brief, and lacking in any real detail. Because "the evidence of other crimes [wa]s... weak," "the danger of improper inference" as to M.H.'s guilt "[wa]s much less." *Clark*, 639 A.2d at 79; *see also id.* at 79-80 (noting that where nature of prior charge or arrest was not specified, "the risk of an improper inference of guilt by the

¹⁹ M.H. contends that he preserved this issue for appeal because, "[i]n addition to objecting to that statement as inadmissible hearsay, [he] objected that it was substantially more prejudicial than probative" under Fed. R. Evid. 403 (Brief for M.H. at 47 (citing R. 1169 (Def. Opp. p.3, n.1); 10/06/2022 Tr. 211-12; 10/27/2022 Tr. 197). He is mistaken. His hearsay objection and general invocation of Rule 403 did not "fairly apprise[]" the trial court of the claim M.H. now makes on appeal. *Perkins*, 760 A.2d at 610. Had M.H. timely objected on this specific ground, the trial court could have remedied the situation by redacting from the text exchange E.B.'s question, "That's his first charge," and S.B.'s response, "Nah," to eliminate any reference to M.H.'s prior arrest (10/6/22 Tr. 47-49). Because M.H. did not object on this ground, this Court should review his claim for plain error. *Perkins*, 760 A.2d at 610 (applying plain error where the "the prosecutor never had the opportunity to state his views on the matter, and the judge had no occasion to consider whether there were other, less prejudicial means" to address the issue).

jury was less than in the situation where the crime charged and the prior arrest involve the same offense") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Indeed, M.H. apparently attached little importance to S.B.'s text message referring to his prior arrest because he never moved to preclude its admission before trial. Nor did he move for a mistrial after this evidence was admitted. "Although a failure to object promptly is not dispositive of the issue of prejudice, . . . it constitutes some evidence that appellants did not immediately perceive the challenged argument as prejudicial." *Parks v. United States*, 451 A.2d 591, 613 (D.C. 1982), *rejected on other grounds by Lawson v. United States*, 514 A.2d 787, 789-90 (D.C. 1986).

M.H. contends that the prejudice stemming from S.B.'s allusion to his prior arrest in the text message was heightened because Detectives Brackett and Morales had also previously referred to an arrest (Brief for M.H. at 47-48). The trial court took steps to mitigate any harm to M.H. caused by these earlier two references, however, and M.H. does not suggest that those remedial measures lacked force. *See McRoy*, 106 A.3d at 1061 (noting that trial court "issued a clear curative instruction, which we presume the jury followed, absent evidence to the contrary"); *Battle v. United States*, 630 A.2d 211, 224-25 (D.C. 1993) (no abuse of discretion in declining to order a mistrial where two witnesses adverted to other incidents of sexual abuse committed by the defendant where the trial judge granted the defense request for a curative instruction and struck the testimony of one witness "to the extent that it may

have referred to other occasions"). Therefore, M.H. cannot show error, let alone plain error, arising from the trial court's failure to declare a mistrial, sua sponte, based on the admission of this text message.

IV. M.H. Was Not Prejudiced by Any Error in the Trial Court's Failure to Recognize That It Had Discretion to Impose a Sentence Below the Mandatory Minimum.

M.H. contends that the trial court failed to recognize that it had discretion to sentence him below the mandatory minimum pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-403.01(c)(2), and that he is entitled to a resentencing (Brief for M.H. at 48-50). Even assuming error, M.H. was not prejudiced and a resentencing is not warranted.

A. Additional Background

In his sentencing memorandum, despite conceding that he "[wa]s not a 'youthful offender' pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-901(6)," M.H. claimed that the trial court had discretion to sentence him below the 30-year mandatory minimum because the "Youth Rehabilitation Act [YRA] grant[ed] the [c]ourt the ability to issue a sentence less than any mandatory-minimum term otherwise required by law, 'notwithstanding any other law' (D.C. Code § [2]4-903(b)(2))" (R. 1489 (Def. Sent. Memo. p. 2)). At the sentencing hearing, M.H. reiterated his argument that, under D.C. Code § 24-903(b)(2), the trial court had discretion to sentence him below the 30-year mandatory minimum for first-degree murder (3/1/23 Tr. 7-8).

The trial court found that it did not have discretion under the YRA to sentence below the mandatory minimum because M.H. had been convicted of first-degree murder, which disqualified him from falling within the definition of a "youthful offender" (3/1/23 Tr. 7-8). Furthermore, the court made clear that even if it had discretion under the YRA, it would not sentence M.H. below the mandatory minimum (3/1/23 Tr. 8 ("even if the Youth Act were to apply here and the [c]ourt believes, legally, it does not, this is not the type of situation that the [c]ourt would be inclined to deviate from the guideline")). The court ultimately sentenced M.H. to 40 years of imprisonment on the first-degree murder charge, 10 years above the mandatory minimum, for the "senseless" death of a 15-year-old boy (3/1/23 Tr. 53-54).

B. Standard of Review and Legal Principles

Before the trial court, M.H. invoked only the YRA, D.C. Code § 24-903(b)(2), and never cited the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act of 2016 (IRAA), D.C. Code § 24-403.01(c)(2), as grounds for a sentence below the mandatory minimum. Because M.H. invokes the IRAA for the first time on appeal, this Court must review this claim of sentencing error for plain error only. *See Perkins*, 760 A.2d at 608-09.

²⁰ M.H.'s presentence report (PSR) determined that the applicable guideline range for his first-degree premeditated murder conviction was 360 to 720 months or 30 to 60 years of incarceration (SR. 294 (PSR p. 21)). M.H. agreed with the PSR's calculation of the applicable guideline range (R. 1489 (Def. Sent. Memo. p. 2)).

C. Discussion

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